# S227270

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

TRI-FANUCCHI FARMS,	) Case No. S
Petitioner and Respondent,	) (Fifth District Court of Appeal; ) Case No. F069419)
V.	SUPREME COURT
AGRICULTURAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,	) Jun <b>2 3</b> 2015
Respondent and Petitioner,	) Frank'A. McGuire Clerk
and	Deputy
UNITED FARM WORKERS OF AMERICA,	) ) )
Real Party in Interest.	

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

J. ANTONIO BARBOSA, SBN 87829 **Executive Secretary** 

PAUL M. STARKEY, SBN 109434 Special Board Counsel

SCOTT P. INCIARDI, SBN 228814 Senior Board Counsel

AGRICULTURAL LABOR **RELATIONS BOARD** 1325 J Street, Suite 1900-B Sacramento, CA 95814 Telephone: (916) 653-3741

Facsimile: (916) 653-8570

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Labor Code section 1160.3 authorizes the Board, as an expert body, to make employees whole for loss of pay resulting from the unlawful refusal of an employer to bargain with a union certified under the Agricultural Labor Relations Act (the "ALRA" or the "Act"). Upon a finding that Tri-Fanucchi Farms ("Tri-Fanucchi") unlawfully refused to bargain with the United Farm Workers of America (the "UFW"), the Board determined that Tri-Fanucchi should make its employees whole for the violation. The Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District (the "Court of Appeal"), while agreeing that Tri-Fanucchi unlawfully refused to bargain, nevertheless substituted its judgment for the Board's, and reversed the Board's makewhole award.

The issues presented are:

(1) Whether the Court of Appeal exceeded its authority and failed to apply the applicable standard of review by failing to afford deference to the Board's determination that bargaining makewhole was appropriate and by conducting what amounted to a *de novo* determination of whether makewhole was appropriate;

(2) Whether the Court of Appeal's conclusion that Tri-Fanucchi's refusal to bargain with the certified representative of its employees furthered the policies and purposes of the ALRA was erroneous.

#### REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

This Court should grant review to settle an important question of law concerning the Board's remedial authority. As the agency established by the Legislature with primary and exclusive jurisdiction to prevent and remedy unfair labor practices ("ULPs") as defined by the ALRA and with subject matter expertise in California agricultural labor relations, the Board is entitled to deference in its choice of remedies to expunge the effects of ULPs. Here, as found by the Board and affirmed by the Court of Appeal, Tri-Fanucchi committed a ULP by refusing to bargain with its employees' certified representative without any legal justification for its conduct. Exercising the discretion vested in it by the Legislature over such matters, the Board determined that an award of bargaining makewhole pursuant to Labor Code section 1160.3 was appropriate because Tri-Fanucchi's refusal to bargain, predicated on an "abandonment" defense whose inapplicability under the ALRA had long been settled as a matter of Board law, did not further the policies and purposes of the ALRA. The reviewing Court, in error, reversed the Board's policy judgment.

The role of the courts in reviewing the Board's determinations concerning remedies for ULPs is a limited one. In view of the primary and exclusive jurisdiction vested by the Legislature in the Board, and the wellestablished principle that the formulation of remedies is peculiarly a matter for administrative competence, the Board's remedial orders are to be upheld "unless it can be shown that the order is a patent attempt to achieve ends other than those which can be fairly said to effectuate the policies of the Act." (Karahadian Ranches v. ALRB (1985) 38 Cal.3d 1, 16; Virginia Electric & Power Co. v. NLRB (1943) 319 U.S. 533, 540.) Under this standard, the Court of Appeal was not permitted to conduct its own analysis of the appropriateness of makewhole – that was the exclusive role of the Board. (NLRB v. Seven-Up Bottling Co. of Miami, Inc. (1953) 344 U.S. 344, 348. ("It is not for us to weigh these or countervailing considerations.").) Provided that the Board's remedy is a rational one, it must be upheld, even if the reviewing court would have ruled differently were it considering the matter de novo. (Jasmine Vineyards, Inc. v. ALRB (1980) 113 Cal.App.3d 968, 982; Sure-Tan, Inc. v. NLRB (1984) 467 U.S. 883, 898-899.)

In this case, the Court of Appeal failed to heed the clear and wellestablished precedent defining the limited scope of review of the Board's remedial decisions. The Court of Appeal did not analyze whether it had been established that the Board's determination of the appropriateness of makewhole represented an attempt to achieve ends other than those which can be fairly said to effectuate the policies of the Act; rather, the Court of Appeal took it upon itself to conduct what amounted to a *de novo* determination of that issue. Thus, the Court of Appeal cast aside the Board's determination, acknowledging, as it must, the deference owed to the Board's remedial decision but, at the same time, dismissing the Board's policy judgment as "clearly wrong." The Court of Appeal then proceeded to determine for itself whether Tri-Fanucchi's conduct furthered the policies and purposes of the Act such that the remedy of makewhole would be appropriate.

Next, compounding its error, the Court of Appeal reasoned that the legal status of the abandonment defense could not be regarded as settled because there were no reported appellate decisions on the issue, notwithstanding that Board precedent rejecting that defense was well-established. As such, the Court of Appeal found, the Board's remedy of makewhole exceeded the Board's discretion in this case. The Court of Appeal's reasoning is contrary to California Supreme Court precedent holding that "a settled administrative construction of the statute . . . must be given great weight." (Gibson v. Unemployment Insurance Appeals Board (1973) 9 Cal.3d 494, 498 fn. 6.) Furthermore, the Court of Appeal's ruling threatens to eviscerate the legislatively-mandated role of the Board as the agency with primary and exclusive jurisdiction over ULPs, whose "findings within that field carry the authority of an expertness which courts do not

possess and therefore must respect" and whose decisions, particularly those dealing with appropriate remedies, are subject only to limited judicial review. (*Tex-Cal Land Management v. ALRB* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 335, 346.)

Even apart from the fact that the Court of Appeal exceeded its authority and failed to follow the appropriate deferential standard of review of the Board's remedial order, this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeal's determination that makewhole was not appropriate in this case was erroneous and would have significant harmful public policy impacts, which will be felt state-wide.

The Court of Appeal acknowledged that the Board's own decisions on abandonment have been very clear that the defense is not viable under the ALRA, and stated that the Board's precedent is "consistent with how California Courts have construed the ALRA." [Slip Op. 12.]<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeal further stated that the abandonment defense was "clearly analogous" to the "loss of majority" defense, which had been held to be "clearly inapplicable to the ALRA" in a prior appellate decision. [Id. at 12 & 14 (emphasis in original).] These conclusions cannot be reconciled with the Court of Appeal's ultimate conclusion that the legal status of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the May 14, 2015 opinion of the Court of Appeal will be indicated by "Slip Op." References to the certified record will be indicated by "CR." References to the Petitioner's Opening Brief to the Court of Appeal will be indicated by "Pet. Op. Br."

defense was sufficiently unsettled that the Board's makewhole award lay outside of its broad discretion. While the Court of Appeal cited the fact that the "abandonment" period was of a long duration, this particular factual permutation did not take the case beyond the generally applicable legal rule that, under the ALRA, unions remain certified until decertified through an election. While the Court of Appeal characterized the UFW's inactivity as "egregious," the statutory authority of the Board is to remedy ULPs, and it does not have plenary authority to police the relationships between employers and unions, or between unions and represented employees outside of the ULP context, and Tri-Fanucchi has never alleged nor contended that the UFW committed a ULP. Tri-Fanucchi, conversely, has been adjudicated to have committed a ULP, and the Board justifiably rejected the proposition that it should "punish" the UFW's prior inactivity by visiting the effects of Tri-Fanucchi's ULP upon the agricultural employees who had no control over Tri-Fanucchi's decision to litigate rather than bargain.

Additionally, the Court of Appeal did not take into account that this case represented the second time that Tri-Fanucchi argued abandonment before the Board and the Court of Appeal and its first attempt had resulted

in rejection of its abandonment defense and an award of makewhole.<sup>2</sup> (*Tri-Fanucchi Farms v. ALRB* (Nov. 21, 1987, F008776) ([nonpub. opn.])

The Court of Appeal cited the statutory policy of promoting stability in labor relations as justifying its determination that Tri-Fanucchi's refusal to bargain furthered the policies and purposes of the ALRA. However, the Court of Appeal disregarded the equally important statutory purposes of protecting employee free choice and eliminating employer interference in the designation of bargaining representatives, both of which polices were directly undermined by Tri-Fanucchi's attempt to terminate its bargaining relationship with the UFW outside of the election procedures of the ALRA. Furthermore, the Court of Appeal's ruling does not foster stability in agricultural labor relations, but undermines it. Under the Court of Appeal's ruling, employers will be encouraged to commit ULPs and litigate representation issues in the courts of appeal rather than bargain in good faith. Thus, the Court of Appeal's ruling undermines the role of the Board, encourages increased litigation in the already crowded dockets of the courts of appeal, and encourages the commission of ULPs, all of which undermine the statutory policy of promoting stability in agricultural labor relations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeal took judicial notice of its prior unpublished opinion. [Slip. Op. 5 fn. 2.] The Board does not argue that the Court of Appeal's unreported 1987 decision should have been treated as having precedential value. However, it is clearly among the "facts and circumstances" bearing on whether an award of makewhole was appropriate.

For the foregoing reasons, and as will be explained further below, this case presents an important question of law that requires resolution by this Court. Accordingly, the Board respectfully requests that this Court accept review.

#### **BACKGROUND**

# I. THE PARTIES' BARGAINING HISTORY AND TRI-FANUCCHI'S REFUSAL TO BARGAIN

The UFW was certified as the bargaining representative of Tri-Fanucchi's agricultural employees in 1977 after a secret-ballot election. [Slip Op. 4.] After the certification, Tri-Fanucchi initially refused to bargain, claiming that it intended to engage in a "technical refusal to bargain" to challenge the validity of the election. (See *Joe G. Fanucchi & Sons/Tri-Fanucchi Farms* (1986) 12 ALRB No. 8 at p. 2.) However, after the UFW filed a ULP charge, Tri-Fanucchi agreed to bargain and negotiations occurred. (*Ibid.*)

Between May, 1979 and July 1984, there was a hiatus in bargaining.

(Joe G. Fanucchi & Sons/Tri-Fanucchi Farms, supra, 12 ALRB No. 8 p. 2.) When the UFW requested to resume bargaining in 1984, Tri-Fanucchi refused, asserting that the UFW had abandoned the bargaining unit along with other defenses. [Slip Op. 4.] The Board rejected these defenses in a 1986 decision and awarded bargaining makewhole pursuant to Labor Code section 1160.3. (Joe G. Fanucchi & Sons/Tri-Fanucchi Farms, supra, 12 ALRB No. 8 at pp. 9-10.) The Court of Appeal upheld the Board's

decision, including the makewhole award. (Tri-Fanucchi Farms v. ALRB, supra, (Nov. 21, 1987, F008776) ([nonpub. opn.])

After the Court of Appeal's decision, Tri-Fanucchi indicated its willingness to bargain with the UFW. [Slip Op. 5.] Tri-Fanucchi claims that the UFW did not have any contact with Tri-Fanucchi or Tri-Fanucchi's employees for some 24 years.<sup>3</sup> [*Ibid.*] In 2012, the UFW reasserted its bargaining rights, demanded to bargain, and requested information from Tri-Fanucchi. [*Ibid.*]

#### II. THE BOARD'S DECISION AND AWARD OF MAKEWHOLE

Charged with unlawfully refusing to bargain with the UFW, Tri-Fanucchi admitted the substance of the allegations. [Slip Op. 6.] It contended, however, that the UFW had lost its certification due to the UFW's prolonged period of inactivity, an argument known as an "abandonment defense." [*Ibid.*] This defense has, however, been rejected by the ALRB in multiple decisions reaching back decades, as Tri-Fanucchi was aware. [*Ibid*; CR 394-396.] In light of the Board's well-established precedent rejecting the abandonment defense, the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") found that Tri-Fanucchi had no valid excuse for refusing to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Because the case was decided via a dispositive motion, the ALRB assumed that the facts alleged concerning this period of inactivity were true, and this Petition, likewise, assumes that they are true.

bargain with its employees' certified representative. [Slip Op. 6.] The ALJ further found that bargaining makewhole was appropriate. [Id. at 6-7.]

Tri-Fanucchi filed exceptions with the Board. [Id. at 7.] The Board's decision applied long-standing precedent in affirming the ALJ's rejection of Tri-Fanucchi's abandonment defense. [Ibid.; CR 394-396.] The Board then considered whether to award bargaining makewhole pursuant to Labor Code section 1160.3. [CR 403-407.] Under the standard announced by the Board in F&P Growers Assoc. (1983) 9 ALRB No. 22 and affirmed by a court of appeal in F&P Growers Assoc. v. ALRB (1985) 168 Cal.App.3d 667 (the "F&P Growers standard"), the Board considered whether Tri-Fanucchi's position furthered the polices and purposes of the Act, in light of the facts and circumstances. [CR 405.] Examining Tri-Fanucchi's legal justification for its refusal to bargain, the equitable arguments against makewhole presented by Tri-Fanucchi, and the facts and circumstances generally, the Board rendered its policy judgment that an award of makewhole was appropriate. [Slip Op. 7; CR 405-407.]

#### III. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION

The Court of Appeal upheld the Board's rejection of the abandonment defense and the Board's conclusion that Tri-Fanucchi's refusal to bargain violated the ALRA. [Slip Op. 4, 13-14.] Yet, it reversed the Board's determination that makewhole was appropriate. The Court of Appeal held that the ALRB was correct to apply the F&P Growers standard

but disagreed with the Board's application of that standard. [Slip Op. 19-20.] The Court of Appeal found that the Board awarded makewhole "solely" based upon its conclusion that Tri-Fanucchi's assertion of the abandonment defense did not further the policies and purposes of the ALRA, a conclusion that the Court of Appeal found to be "clearly wrong." [Id. at 20.] In contrast, the Court of Appeal found that, because there had been no appellate decision on the "specific issue" of abandonment, and it was "far from certain" how a court would rule on the matter, and because the issue of abandonment remained "unsettled and controversial," litigation of the issue served the beneficial purpose of "clarifying and/or confirming" the law and furthered the "broader purposes of the ALRA to promote greater stability in labor relations ..." [Id. at 20-21.]

The Board did not petition for rehearing, and the Court of Appeal's decision became final on June 13, 2015.

#### **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

The ALRA is, in most respects, modeled upon its federal equivalent, the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA"). Under the NLRA, the standard remedy for an employer's violation of the duty to bargain with a certified union is an order directing the employer to cease and desist from its unlawful conduct and take the affirmative action of bargaining in good faith with the union. (See e.g., Convergence Communications, Inc. (2003) 339 NLRB 408, 408.) However, in

enacting the ALRA, the Legislature chose to afford the Board an additional tool to remedy the effects of employer refusals to bargain: the bargaining makewhole remedy. As the Board has observed, the adoption of the makewhole remedy was motivated by the perceived inadequacy of NLRB's remedies for refusals to bargain. (Adam Dairy (1978) 4 ALRB No. 24 at pp. 4-5.) In particular, employers were able, by refusing to bargain, to weaken the certified union and accrue cost savings, which were effectively borne by employees who were denied the benefits of collective bargaining. (Ibid.) Thus, Labor Code 1160.3, entrusting remedial relief to the Board, provides that the remedies available to the Board include "making employees whole, when the board deems such relief appropriate, for the loss of pay resulting from the employer's refusal to bargain." (Emphasis added.)

The makewhole remedy is not punitive in nature. Rather, it is "a compensatory remedy that reimburses employees for the losses they incur as a result of delays in the collective bargaining process." (*George Arakelian Farms*, *Inc. v. ALRB*, (1989) 49 Cal.3d 1279, 1286 fn. 3.) It is established that makewhole is not to be awarded automatically in every case where an employer refuses to bargain in violation of the Act. (*J.R. Norton Co. v. ALRB* (1979) 26 Cal.3d 1, 9.) Rather, the ALRA vests in the Board the discretion to award makewhole "when the board deems such relief appropriate." (Lab. Code, § 1160.3.) As discussed above, in determining whether makewhole is appropriate, the Board makes a policy judgment, weighing the public interest in the

employer's position against the harm caused by the refusal to bargain and only where the employer's position furthers the policies and purposes of the Act does the Board place the risk of the decision to litigate rather than bargain on the employees rather than the employer. (F&P Growers Assoc. v. ALRB (1985) 168 Cal.App.3d 667, 682.)

## I. THE COURT EXCEEDED ITS AUTHORITY AND FAILED TO APPLY THE APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's review is necessary because, in reviewing the Board's makewhole award, the Court of Appeal went beyond its limited role of applying the deferential standard of review that requires that the Board-ordered remedy be upheld unless it was "a patent attempt to achieve ends other than those which can be fairly said to effectuate the policies of the Act." (*Karahadian Ranches v. ALRB, supra*, 38 Cal.3d 1, 16; *Virginia Electric & Power Co. v. NLRB* (1943) 319 U.S. 533, 540.) Instead, the Court of Appeal substituted its own judgment for that of the Board and reversed the Board because it reached a different conclusion as to whether makewhole was "appropriate," a policy judgment vested by the Legislature in the Board and not the courts. (*NLRB v. Seven-Up Bottling Co. of Miami, Inc., supra* 344 U.S. 344, 346; *Sandrini Bros. v. ALRB* (1984) 156 Cal.App.3d 878, 885.)

Where the Legislature vests in an administrative agency the responsibility to administer a statute, the courts' role of review, while important, is a limited one. These principles have been addressed in multiple decisions of the United

States Supreme Court in the context of the NLRA. In San Diego Building Trades Council v. Garmon (1959) 359 U.S. 236, 242-243, the United States Supreme Court emphasized the central role of the NLRB in administration of labor policy, "armed with its own procedures, and equipped with its specialized knowledge and cumulative experience." The Court stressed that, "Congress did not merely lay down a substantive rule of law to be enforced by any tribunal competent to apply law generally to the parties. It went on to confide primary interpretation and application of its rules to a specific and specially constituted tribunal . . ." (Ibid.) The role of the NLRB and the limited nature of judicial review of its decisions was also was addressed in Phelps Dodge Corp. v. NLRB (1941) 313 U.S. 177. The Court stated that Congress met the challenge of applying the broadly phrased mandates of the NLRA "by leaving the adaptation of means to end to the empiric process of administration." (Id. at p. 194.) The Court continued that

The exercise of the process was committed to the Board, subject to limited judicial review. Because the relation of remedy to policy is peculiarly a matter for administrative competence, courts must not enter the allowable area of the Board's discretion and must guard against the danger of sliding unconsciously from the narrow confines of law into the more spacious domain of policy.

 $(Ibid.)^4$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See also *Franks Bros. Co. v. NLRB* (1944) 321 U.S. 702, 704 ("One of the chief responsibilities of the [NLRB] is to direct such action as will dissipate (Footnote continued....)

Accordingly, a remedial order of the National Labor Relations Board ("NLRB") "should stand unless it can be shown that the order is a patent attempt to achieve ends other than those which can fairly be said to effectuate the policies of the Act." (*Virginia Electric & Power Co. v. NLRB, supra*, 319 U.S. 533, 540.)

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