IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

TRI-FANUCCHI FARMS,) Case No. S227270
Petitioner and Respondent,	(Fifth District Court of Appeal;) Case No. F069419)
v.	
AGRICULTURAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,	SUPREME COURT FILED
Respondent and Petitioner,	JUL 1 4 2015
and	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
UNITED FARM WORKERS OF AMERICA,	Deputy
Real Party in Interest.)

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

J. ANTONIO BARBOSA, SBN 87829 **Executive Secretary**

PAUL M. STARKEY, SBN 109434 Special Board Counsel

SCOTT P. INCIARDI, SBN 228814 Senior Board Counsel

AGRICULTURAL LABOR **RELATIONS BOARD** 1325 J Street, Suite 1900-B Sacramento, CA 95814 Telephone: (916) 653-3741 Facsimile: (916) 653-8570

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

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. TRI-FANUCCHI'S ARGUMENT THAT THE BOARD'S ABANDONMENT PRECEDENT IS AN UNREASONABLE INTERPRETATION OF THE ALRA CANNOT BE ACCEPTED AS THE BOARD'S PRECEDENT IS CONSISTENT WITH THE POLICIES AND PURPOSES OF THE ALRA AS WELL AS EXISTING JUDICIAL PRECEDENT

Tri-Fanucchi presents the Court of Appeal's decision on abandonment as a new chapter in California agricultural labor relations. However, the Court of Appeal's opinion, in fact, merely affirms principles that have been long-recognized by the Board and the courts. As readily acknowleged by the Court of Appeal, the Board's holdings rejecting the abandonment defense are longstanding. The Board's decisions, and the Court of Appeal's affirmation of the Board's precedent on this issue, do not represent a departure from, or even an extension of, firmly established legal principles derived from the statutory language and underlying legislative intent of the ALRA. The Court of Appeal's decision merely confirms what was already known as a result of decades of Board precedential rulings, as well as rulings of the courts of appeal: that under

⁷ While upholding the Board's abandonment precedent, the Court of Appeal reversed the Board's award of makewhole under Labor Code section 1160.3 (*Tri-Fanucchi Farms v. ALRB, supra*, 236 Cal.App.4th 1079, 1094-1098.) The Board has petitioned for review of this aspect of the Court of Appeal's decision.

the ALRA, the right to select or remove unions is placed in the hands of employees and not their employers. Thus, as will be shown below, Tri-Fanucchi's argument that the Board precedent upheld by the Court of Appeal "eviscerates ALRA policy" or improperly amends or expands the scope of the ALRA is baseless.

A. California Agricultural Labor Policy, as Established in Statute and Case Law, Supports the Board's Abandonment Precedent

In enacting the ALRA, the Legislature expressly stated the policy goal of allowing California's agricultural employees to have a free, collective voice in choosing an exclusive representative for purposes of collective bargaining.

Labor Code section 1140.2 states that it is "the policy of the State of California to encourage and protect the right of agricultural employees to full freedom of association, self-organization, and designation of representatives of their own choosing . . ." and "to be free from the interference, restraint, or coercion of employers of labor, or their agents, in the designation of such representatives . . ."

The ALRA tracks in most respects the statutory language of the NLRA. (*United Farm Workers of America* (2014) 40 ALRB No. 6 at p. 7.) However, in drafting the statutory language dealing with the selection and removal of bargaining representatives, the Legislature deliberately diverged from the language of the NLRA.

Under the NLRA, an employer may voluntarily recognize and bargain with a union without the union having prevailed in an NLRB-conducted election. (*General Box Co.* (1949) 82 NLRB 678, 679; *Cobb Theatres, Inc.* (1982) 260 NLRB 856, 859.) In contrast, the ALRA explicitly makes it an unfair labor practice for an employer to bargain with a union that has not attained certification under the ALRA's election procedures. (Lab. Code, § 1153, subd. (f); *Nish Noroian Farms* (1982) 8 ALRB No. 25 p. 13.)

Likewise, under the NLRA, an employer may file a petition seeking an election when one or more unions present a claim to be recognized. (29 U.S.C. § 159(c)(1)(B).) No such procedure is available under the ALRA. Only employees or unions acting on employees' behalf may petition for elections under the ALRA. (Lab. Code, § 1156.3, subd. (a); F&P Growers Assoc. v. ALRB (1985) 168 Cal.App.3d 667, 674-675.)

In interpreting the ALRA, the Board has recognized that "[b]y these important differences the California legislature has indicated that agricultural employers are to exercise no discretion regarding whether to recognize a union; that is left exclusively to the election procedures of the Board." (*Nish Noroian Farms, supra*, 8 ALRB No. 25 p. 13.) An appellate court has agreed that the differences between the ALRA and the NLRA in the area of union recognition "show a purpose on the part of the Legislature to prohibit the employer from being an active participant in determining which union it shall bargain with in cases arising under the ALRA." (*F&P Growers Assoc. v. ALRB, supra*, 168

Cal.App.3d 667, 676.) It is within this context of express legislative intent to preserve the right of employees to choose their own representatives free of employer interference that the Board's precedents on abandonment arise.

Based upon the Legislature's clear intent to eliminate employer involvement in the selection of bargaining representatives, the Board has long held, with judicial approval, that, just as employers are prohibited from being active participants in the process of selecting a bargaining representative, they are also prohibited from playing an active role in the removal of a bargaining representative. In Montebello Rose Co. v. ALRB, supra, 119 Cal.App.3d 1, the Court of Appeal adopted Board precedent, holding that the duty to bargain under the ALRA is a continuing one. Following this, in Nish Noroian Farms, the Board held that, in contrast to the rule under the NLRA, which permits employers to withdraw recognition from a certified union that has lost the support of a majority of employees, under the ALRA, "[o]nce a union has been certified it remains the exclusive collective bargaining-representative of the employees in the unit until it is decertified or a rival union is certified." (Nish Noroian Farms, supra, 8 ALRB No. 25 at p. 14.) This has become known as the "certified until decertified" rule.

One result of the "certified until decertified" rule is that an employer may not withdraw recognition from a union based upon evidence that the union has lost the support of a majority of employees, which an employer may do under the NLRA. In F&P Growers Association v. ALRB, the Court upheld the Board's

rejection of the loss of majority defense and the Board's "certified until decertified" doctrine upon which it was based. The employer in that case argued that the ALRB was required to follow the then-prevailing rule applied by the NLRB that permitted withdrawal of recognition of a certified union based upon a good faith doubt as to its continuing majority status. 8 The Court found that, while the ALRB is required to follow NLRA "applicable precedents" under Labor Code section 1147, NLRA precedent on withdrawal of recognition was not "applicable" because of the significant differences between the ALRA and the NLRA in the area of employer participation in the process of certifying and decertifying unions, as noted above. (F&P Growers Assoc. v. ALRB, supra, 168 Cal. App.3d 667, 676-677.) The Court concluded that "it does appear that the Legislature's purpose in enacting the ALRA was to limit the employer's influence in determining whether or not it shall bargain with a particular union" and that allowing the good faith doubt defense would "give the employer influence over those matters in which the Legislature clearly appears to have removed employer influence." (*Ibid.*)

In its analysis distinguishing the ALRA from the NLRA model, the Court noted the particular conditions that prevail in California's agricultural industry,

⁸ The NLRB has subsequently modified its rule to allow withdrawal of recognition in the unfair labor practice context only where the union has actually lost majority support. (*Levitz Furniture Co. of the Pacific, Inc., (2001)* 333 NLRB 717, 717.)

including rapid employee turnover, seasonal employment, and a workforce featuring a large percentage of non-native and/or non-English speaking employees, and held that these factors supported the conclusion that "[a]pplying the NLRA defense would fail to respond to the particular needs of the California agricultural scene." (*Id.* at p. 677.) The Court rejected the contention that, due to the seasonal nature of their employment and (presumed by the employer) illiteracy, employees could not effectively exercise their right to decertify a union and required action by the employer to remove an unwanted union. The Court responded that, "[t]he clear purpose of the Legislature is to preclude the employer from active participation in choosing or decertifying a union, and this certainly overrides any paternalistic interest of the employer that the employees be represented by a union of the present employees' own choice." (*Ibid.*)

The Board's decisions rejecting abandonment as a defense to refusal to bargain allegations are grounded in the "certified until decertified" doctrine, which is itself based on the certification and decertification provisions of the ALRA and the policies underlying them. In fact, as Tri-Fanucchi concedes, the abandonment defense is merely a subset of the "good faith doubt" defense that the Board, with judicial approval, has long rejected. [Petitioner's Opening Brief to Court of Appeal ("Pet.Op.Br.") p. 15 ("abandonment is a narrow theory within the broader area of good faith doubt . . .")]; (F&P Growers v. ALRB, supra, 168 Cal.App.3d 168, 678 ("we hold the particular NLRA precedent herein inapplicable and the agricultural employer may not raise a 'good faith doubt of

majority support.").) Accordingly, the Board has clearly and repeatedly held that, because unions remain certified until decertified, an employer under the ALRA may not refuse to bargain with a certified union based upon a claim that the union was inactive or absent for a period of time. (*O.E. Mayou & Sons* (1985) 11 ALRB No. 25, *Bruce Church, Inc.* (1991) 17 ALRB No. 1, *Dole Fresh Fruit Co., Inc.* (1996) 22 ALRB No. 4, *Pictsweet Mushroom Farms* (2003) 29 ALRB No. 3 San Joaquin Tomato Growers, Inc. (2011) 37 ALRB No. 5; *Arnaudo Bros., LP* (2014) 40 ALRB No. 3 p. 14.)

That the Board's precedents on abandonment are consistent with the ALRA and the legislative intent is confirmed by the Legislature's subsequent tacit approval of those precedents. "The Legislature is presumed to be aware of a long-standing administrative practice" and where the Legislature "makes no substantial modifications to the act, there is a strong indication that the administrative practice is consistent with the legislative intent." (*Thornton v. Carlson* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 1249, 1257 (internal punctuation omitted).) Each year, during the decades that the Board has applied the "certified until decertified" rule and the rule rejecting the abandonment defense, the Legislature has declined to invalidate that precedent by amending the ALRA.

Furthermore, in 2002, the Legislature amended the Act to add MMC.

(Lab. Code, § 1164, et seq.) MMC is a procedure that applies when a union has been certified but no first contract has been reached. Either the union or the employer may request referral to mediation to resolve bargaining issues in an

effort to reach a contract. If, in proceedings before the mediator, the parties do not reach a contract, the mediator is empowered to resolve any unresolved issues on which the parties were not able to reach agreement in a report, which ultimately becomes the parties' first collective bargaining agreement.⁹

By the time MMC was enacted, the Board's "certified until decertified" rule and the Board's rejection of the abandonment defense were already well-established. Yet, in enacting MMC, the Legislature placed no limitation on the age of the certification in question and no requirement that there has been continuous bargaining. (Lab. Code, § 1164.11.) In fact, examination of MMC's legislative history indicates that the Legislature passed MMC in large part to address the problem of longstanding certifications where the parties had never reached an initial contract. Thus, despite the opportunity to do so, the

⁹ As noted above, in *Gerawan Farming, Inc. v. ALRB*, decided the same day as this case, the Court of Appeal ruled MMC unconstitutional and held, on alternative grounds, that an employer, faced with a request for referral to MMC, should be permitted to raise "abandonment" to establish that the statutory prerequisites for referral to MMC were not met. That ruling was made in the context of MMC, not present here, and, in fact, confirmed that abandonment is not a defense to the continuing duty to bargain. The Board has petitioned for review of the Court of Appeal's decision in that case. (*Gerawan Farming, Inc. v. ALRB*, Case Nos. S227243 & S227250.)

¹⁰ See Office of Assembly Floor Analysis, third reading of Senate Bill 1156 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess,), August 31, 2002, page 7; Office of Assembly Floor Analysis, concurring in Senate Amendments of Assembly Bill No. 2596 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) August 31, 2002, pages 7-8, wherein proponents of MMC argued that the bill was necessary because employees "have waited for years" and "continue to languish without the negotiated contracts they have elected to secure."

Legislature has never acted to amend the Act to allow an abandonment defense to the duty to bargain, which bolsters the conclusion that the Board's precedent in this area is consistent with the legislative intent.

The Board's precedent on abandonment, and the Court of Appeal's decision upholding that precedent, directly promotes the interlocking legislative purposes of preserving employee free choice and eliminating employer interference therewith by prohibiting employers from refusing to bargain based on union inactivity and ensuring that the authority to choose whether to remove a certified union remains where the Legislature placed it: in the hands of represented employees. Furthermore, the Board's holdings on abandonment did not require the Board to create any novel legal principle. Rather, those holdings flow directly from the principle that the duty to bargain is a continuing one and that under the ALRA unions remain certified until decertified by the affected employees. As discussed above, these principles have already been judicially approved. (Montebello Rose Co. v. ALRB, supra, 119 Cal.App.3d 1; F&P Growers Assn. v. ALRB, supra, 168 Cal.App.3d 667.) Accordingly, while the Court of Appeal's decision was the first published decision on the specific issue of abandonment, the decision falls well within the bounds of established law. Review by this Court is unnecessary.

B. The Board's Abandonment Precedent and the Court of Appeal's Decision Upholding that Precedent are Consistent with Established Law, Contrary to Tri-Fanucchi's Arguments

As shown above, the Board's precedent on abandonment, and the Court of Appeal's affirmation of that precedent, is consistent with the statutory language of the ALRA, the legislative policies underlying the Act, and the judicially approved, long-standing interpretation of the Act. Tri-Fanucchi's arguments to the contrary are without merit.

Tri-Fanucchi argues that the legislative policy protecting employee choice is threatened when a union, after a long period of absence, demands to bargain with an employer. [Tri-Fanucchi Petition for Review p. 14.] Tri-Fanucchi complains that, in such situations, "the employer is required to bargain with the long-term absent union, whether the employees want the union's representation or not" [*Id.* at p. 15.] This is incorrect, for, as Tri-Fanucchi acknowledges, the Act gives employees the right to remove a certified union, if that is their desire, through a decertification election. Therefore, if employees do not desire representation by the certified union, the employees are empowered to exercise that right.

In an attempt to avoid the reality that its employees are vested with the authority to remove the UFW if they so wish, Tri-Fanucchi proffers, without support, that its employees may be ill equipped to exercise their collective right to file a decertification petition and thus require the benevolent intercession of

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